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UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20436

In the Matter of

CERTAIN NOR AND NAND FLASH Investigation No. 337-TA-560
MEMORY DEVICES AND PRODUCTS

CONTAINING THE SAME

NOTICE OF COMMISSION DECISION NOT TO REVIEW
THE INITIAL DETERMINATION OF NO VIOLATION OF SECTION 337 AND
RECOMMENDED DETERMINATION ON REMEDY AND BOND;
TERMINATION OF INVESTIGATION

AGENCY: U.S. International Trade Commission.
ACTION: Notice.

SUMMARY: Notice is hereby given that the U.S. International Trade Commission has
determined not to review a final initial determination (“ID”) issued by the presiding
administrative law judge (“ALJ”) regarding whether there is a violation of section 337 of the
Tariff Act of 1930 in the above-captioned investigation.

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: Paul M. Bartkowski, Esq., Office of the
General Counsel, U.S. International Trade Commission, 500 E Street, S.W., Washington, D.C.
20436, telephone (202) 708-5432. Copies of non-confidential documents filed in connection
with this investigation are or will be available for inspection during official business hours (8:45
a.m. to 5:15 p.m.) in the Office of the Secretary, U.S. International Trade Commission, 500 E
Street, S.W., Washington, D.C. 20436, telephone (202) 205-2000. General information
concerning the Commission may also be obtained by accessing its Internet server at
http.//www.usite.gov. The public record for this investigation may be viewed on the
Commission’s electronic docket (EDIS) at http://edis.usitc. gov. Hearing-impaired persons are
advised that information on this matter can be obtained by contacting the Commission’s TDD
terminal on (202) 205-1810.

SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION: This investigation was instituted on February 13,
2006, based on a complaint filed by SanDisk Corporation of Sunnyvale, California. The
complaint alleges violations of section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930 (19 U.S.C. § 1337) in the
importation into the United States, the sale for importation, and the sale within the United States
after importation of certain NOR and NAND flash memory devices and products containing
same by reason of infringement of various claims of United States Patent Nos. 5,172,338 (“the
‘338 patent™); 5,991,517 (“the ‘517 patent™); and 6,542,956 (“the ‘956 patent™). The complaint



named two respondents: STMicroelectronics N.V. of Geneva, Switzerland and
STMicroelectronics, Inc. of Carrollton, Texas (collectively, “ST”)

On May 17, 2006, the ALJ granted, by an ID issued June 1, 2006, SanDisk’s motion for partial
termination of the investigation with respect to the ‘956 patent. The Commission issued a notice
that it determined not to review the ID on June 19, 2006.

On June 1, 2007, the ALJ issued the final ID finding no violation of Section 337 in the
importation into the United States, the sale for importation or the sale within the United States
after importation, of certain NOR and NAND flash memory devices and products containing the
same in connection with the asserted claims of the ‘517 and ‘338 patents. No petitions for
review of the ID were filed. The Commission has determined not to review the ID.

The authority for the Commission’s determination is contained in section 337 of the Tariff Act of

1930, as amended (19 U.S.C. § 1337), and in section 210.42 of the Commission’s Rules of
Practice and Procedure (19 C.F.R. § 210.42).

v
Marilyn R. Abbé

Secretary to the Commission

By order of the Commission.

Issued: July 13, 2007
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UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C.

In the Matter of

CERTAIN NOR AND NAND FLASH MEMORY Imv. No. 337-TA-560
DEVICES AND PRODUCTS CONTAINING SAME

NOTICE REGARDING INITIAL DETERMINATION
(June 1, 2007)

On this date, the undersigned issued an initial determination on violation of section 337 and
recommended determination on remedy and bond in the above-referenced investigation. Attached
are pages 1-2 and 142-45 from said filing, which are a matter of public record. A complete public
version of the Initial Determination and Recommended Determination on Remedy and Bond will
be issued when all the parties have submitted their redactions and the undersigned has had an

opportunity to review the redactions.

LN

Charles E. Bullock
Administrative Law Judge







PUBLIC VERSION
UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C.

In the Matter of

CERTAIN NOR AND NAND FLASH MEMORY Inv. No. 337-TA-560
DEVICES AND PRODUCTS CONTAINING SAME

INITIAL DETERMINATION ON VIOLATION OF SECTION 337 AND
RECOMMENDED DETERMINATION ON REMEDY AND BOND

Administrative Law Judge Charles E. Bullock

(June 1, 2007)

Appearances:

For the Complainant SanDisk Corporation:
James C. Yoon, Esq.; Michael A. Ladra, Esq.; Julie M. Holloway, Esq.; Ron E. Shulman, Esq.; of
Wilson, Sonsini, Goodrich & Rosati of Palo Alto, California

Nicole W. Stafford, Esq.; and Dion Messer, Esq.; of Wilson, Sonsini, Goodrich & Rosati of Austin,
Texas

For the Respondents STMicroelectronics N.V. and STMicroelectronics, Inc.:
James L. Quarles, Esq.; James M. Dowd, Esq.; Nina S. Tallon, Esq.; Gregory H. Lantier, Esq.;
Michael D. Esch, Esq.; of Wilmer, Cutler, Pickering, Hale and Door, of Washington DC

Richard Goldenberg, Esq.; of Wilmer, Cutler, Pickering, Hale and Door, of Boston, Massachusetts

For the Commission Investigative Staff:

Lynn I. Levine, Esq., Director; Thomas S. Fusco, Esq., Supervising Attorney; David Lloyd, Esq.,
Investigative Attorney; of the Office of Unfair Import Investigations, U.S. International Trade
Commission, of Washington, D.C.







PUBLIC VERSION
UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C.

In the Matter of

CERTAIN NOR AND NAND FLASH MEMORY Inv. No. 337-TA-560
DEVICES AND PRODUCTS CONTAINING SAME

INITIAL DETERMINATION ON VIOLATION OF SECTION 337 AND
RECOMMENDED DETERMINATION ON REMEDY AND BOND

Administrative Law Judge Charles E. Bullock
(June 1, 2007)

Pursuant to the Notice of Investigation' and Rule 210.42(a) of the Rules of Practice and
Proéedme of the United States International Trade Commission, this is the Administrative Law
Judge’s Initial Determination in the matter of Certain NOR and NAND flash memory devices and
products containing same, Investigation No. 337-TA-560.

The Administrative Law Judge hereby determines that a violation of Section 337 of the Tariff
Act of 1930, as amended, has not been found in the importation into the United States, the sale for
importation, or the sale within the United States after importation of certain NOR and NAND flash
memory devices and products containing same, in connection with claims 1, 3,5, 6, 7, 8, 10, 12,13,
and 14 of U.S. Patent No. 5,991,517 and has not been found in the importation into the United
States, the sale for importation, or the sale within the United States after importation of certain NOR

and NAND flash memory devices and products containing same, in connection with claims 8,9, 11,

70 Fed. Reg. 61,841 (October 26, 2005).
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27,28,32,50,51,and 64 of U.S. Patent No. 5,172,338. Furthermore, the Administrative Law Judge
hereby determines that a domestic industry in the United States exists that practices U.S. Patent No.

5,991,517 and does not exist that practices U.S. Patent No. 5,172,338.



10.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
The Commission has subject matter jurisdiction in this investigation.
The Commission has personal jurisdiction over ST.
ST’s accused NAND products infringe claims 1, 3, 5, 6, 7, 8, and 10 of U.S. Patent No.
5,991,517 in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a). In addition, all of ST’s accused NAND
products indirectly infringe these claims.
ST’s accused NAND products do not infringe claims 12, 13, and 14 of U.S. Patent No.
5,991,517 in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a).
ST’s accused NOR products do not infringe claims 1, 3,5, 6,7, 8, 10, 12, 13, and 14 of U.S.
Patent No. 5,991,517 in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(a).
An industry in the United States exists with respect to SanDisk’s products that is protected
byclaim 1, 3, 5, 6, 7, 8, 10, and 12 of U.S. Patent No. 5,991,517, as required by 19 U.S.C.
§ 1337(a)(2) and (3).
An industry in the United States does not exist with respect to SanDisk’s products that is
protected by any claim of U.S. Patent No. 5,172,3‘38, as required by 19 U.S.C. § 1337(a)(2)
and (3).
Claims 1, 6, and 10 of U.S. Patent No. 5,991,517 are invalid under 35 U.S.C. § 102 for
anticipation based on the GB ‘145 prior art reference.
Claims 1, 3, 5, 6, 10, 12, 13, and 14 of U.S. Patent No. 5,991,517 are not invalid under 35
U.S.C. § 102 for anticipation based the ‘179 patent.
Claims 1, 6, and 10 of U.S. Patent No. 5,991,517 are not invalid under 35 U.S.C. § 102 for

anticipation based the M293 prior art reference.
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11.

12.

Claims 1, 3,5,6,7, 8,10, 12, 13, and 14 of U.S. Patent No. 5,991,517 are invalid under 35
U.S.C. § 103 for obviousness based on JP100 by itself, or in combination with the ‘179
patent and/or the ‘344 patent.

Claims 1, 6, 7, 8, 10, 12, 13, and 14 of U.S. Patent No. 5,991,517 are not invalid under 35
U.S.C. § 103 for obviousness based on JP100 in combination with the ‘871 patent and/or the

‘541 patent.
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INITIAL DETERMINATION

Based on the foregoing opinion, findings of fact, conclusions of law, the evidence, and the
record as a whole, and having considered all pleadings and arguments, including the proposed
findings of fact and conclusions of law, it is the Administrative Law Judge’s Initial Determination
that a violation of Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, has not been found in the
importation into the United States, the sale for importation, or the sale within the United States after
importation of certain NOR and NAND flash memory devices and products containing same, in
connection with claims 1, 3, 5,6, 7, 8, 10, 12,13, and 14 of U.S. Patent No. 5,991,517 and has not
been found in the importation into the United States, the sale for importation, or the sale within the
United States after importation of certain NOR and NAND flash memory devices and products
containing same, in connection with claims 8, 9, 11, 27, 28, 32, 50, 51, and 64 of U.S. Patent No.
5,172,338. Furthermore, the Administrative Law Judge hereby determines that a domestic industry
in the United States exists that practices U.S. Patent No. 5,991,517 and does not exist that practices
U.S. Patent No. 5,172,338.

The Administrative Law Judge hereby CERTIFIES to the Commission this Initial
Determination, together with the record of the hearing in this investigation consisting of the
following: the transcript of the evidentiary hearing, with appropriate corrections as may hereafter be
ordered by the Administrative Law Judge; and further the exhibits accepted into evidence in this
investigation as listed in the attached exhibit lists.

Pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 210.42(h), this Initial Determination shall become the determination
of the Commission unless a party files a petition for review pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 210.43(a) or the

Commission, pursuant to 19 C.F.R. § 210.44, orders on its own motion a review of the Initial
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Determination or certain issues therein.
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IN THE MATTER OF CERTAIN NOR AND FLASH 337-TA-560
MEMORY DEVICES AND PRODUCTS CONTAINING SAME

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
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PUBLIC VERSION
UNITED STATES INTERNATIONAL TRADE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C.

In the Matter of

CERTAIN NOR AND NAND FLASH MEMORY Inv. No. 337-TA-560
DEVICES AND PRODUCTS CONTAINING SAME

INITIAL DETERMINATION ON VIOLATION OF SECTION 337 AND
RECOMMENDED DETERMINATION ON REMEDY AND BOND

Administrative Law Judge Charles E. Bullock
(June 1, 2007)

Pursuant to the Notice of Investigation' and Rule 210.42(a) of the Rules of Practice and
Procedure of the United States International Trade Commission, this is the Administrative Law
Judge’s Initial Determination in the matter of Certain NOR and NAND flash memory devices and
products containing same, Investigation No. 337-TA-560.

The Administrative Law Judge hereby determines that a violation of Section 337 of the Tariff
Act of 1930, as amended, has not been found in the importation into the United States, the sale for
importation, or the sale within the United States after importation of certain NOR and NAND flash
memory devices and products containing same, in connection with claims 1, 3, 5, 6, 7, 8, 10, 12,13,
and 14 of U.S. Patent No. 5,991,517 and has not been found in the importation into the United
States, the sale for importation, or the sale within the United States after importation of certain NOR

and NAND flash memory devices and products containing same, in connection with claims 8,9, 11,

170 Fed. Reg. 61,841 (October 26, 2005).
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27,28,32,50,51, and 64 of U.S. Patent No. 5,172,338. Furthermore, the Administrative Law Judge
hereby determines that a domestic industry in the United States exists that practices U.S. Patent No.

5,991,517 and does not exist that practices U.S. Patent No. 5,172,338.



DISCUSSION
I Introduction
A. Procedural History
1. Prior Investigations
a. Inv. No. 337-TA-382
The ¢338 patent has been asserted in two prior Section 337 investigations. The first was Inv.
No. 337-TA-382, Certain Flash Memory Circuits and Products Containing Same (“the 382
investigation” or “Certain Flash Memory Circuits™), which involved SanDisk and Respondents
Samsung Electric Company, Ltd. and Samsung Semiconductor, Inc. (collectively “Samsung”), and
was before ALJ Harris. In the ‘382 investigation, ALJ Harris found that Samsung infringed claim
27 of the ‘338 patent and that SanDisk met the technical prong of domestic industry. The
Commission did not review ALJ Harris’ determination on these issues. The case eventually settled.
b. Inv. No. 337-TA-526
The second investigation involving the ‘338 patent was Inv. No. 337-TA-526, Certain NAND
Flash Memory Circuits and Products Containing Same (“the 526 investigation” or “ Certain NAND
Flash Memory Circuits”), which involved SanDisk and ST, and was before ALJ Luckern. In the
‘526 investigation, ALJ Luckern found that ST’s NAND products did not infringe claims 27, 28, or
32 of the 338 patent and that SanDisk’s NAND products did not meet the technical prong of
domestic industry. The Commission affirmed ALJ Luckern’s findings on these issues. The Federal

Circuit affirmed the Commission’s decision without a published opinion on March 6, 2007.2

2 See SanDisk Corp. v. Int’l Trade Comm ’'n, Docket No. 06-1187 (Fed. Cir., Mar. 6, 2007)
(affirmed per Rule 36 without published opinion) (“SanDisk”).
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2. Current Investigation

On January 10, 2006, Complainant SanDisk Corporation (“SanDisk”) filed a complaint with
the Commission pursuant to Section 337 of the Tariff Act of 1930, as amended, 19 U.S.C. § 1337.
The complaint was supplemented on January 24, 2006. The complaint, as supplemented, asserts
unfair methods of competition and unfair acts in violation of Section 337 by Respondents
STMicroelectronics N.V., and STMicroelectronics, Inc. (“collectively ST”) in connection with the
importation, sale for importation, and sale within the United States after importation of certain NOR
and NAND flash memory devices and products containing same.

The complaint accuses ST’s products of infringing various claims of the following three U.S.
Patents owned by SanDisk: claims 27, 28, 32, 50, 51, and 64 of U.S. Patent No. 5,172,338 (“the 338
patent”); claims 1-8 and 10-14 of U.S. Patent No. 5,991,517 (“the ‘517 patent™); and claims 7 and
10 of U.S. Patent No. 6,542,956 (“the ‘956 patent”). The complaint further alleges that there exists
adomestic industry with respect to the patents-at-issue. SanDisk seeks, among other things, a limited
exclusion order of the infringing NOR and NAND flash memory devices and products containing
same, including all downstream products containing the accused ST chips. On February 8, 2006,
the Commission issued a notice of investigation that was subsequently published in the Federal
Register on February 13,2005.> On February 14, 2006, the undersigned set a fourteen-month target
date for the investigation, or April 13, 2007.* ST filed a response to the complaint and notice of
investigation on March 6, 2006, which was subsequently amended on June 5, 2006 and September

28, 2006.

3 See Notice of Investigation, 71 Fed. Reg. 7576 (February 13, 2006).
4 See Order No. 2 (February 14, 2006).



On April 13, 2006, SanDisk filed a motion for leave to amend the Complaint and Notice of
Investigation, which was granted by initial determination in Order No. 4, issued on April 25, 2006.
On May 17, 2006, the Commission issued a notice not to review the initial determination.
Specifically, SanDisk moved to assert three additional claims from the ‘338 patent (claims 8, 9, and
11), one additional claim from the ‘956 patent (claim 11), and to accuse ST’s NAND flash memory
devices of infringing claims 3 and 5 of the ‘517 patent.

On March 31, 2006, ST filed a motion to terminate the investigation as to the ‘338 patent
based on SanDisk having no domestic industry in the ‘338 patent, largely based on issue preclusion
from the ‘526 investigation. On May 1, 2006, the undersigned denied the motion to terminate in
Order No. 5. On May 8, 2006, ST filed a motion for leave to appeal Order No. 5, which was denied
by Order No. 7, issued on May 22, 2006.

On May 17, 2006, SanDisk filed a motion for partial termination of the investigation with
respect to the ‘956 patent, which was granted by initial determination in Order No. 8, issued on June
1, 2006. On June 19, 2006, the Commission issued a notice not to review the initial determination.

On May 15, 2006, the Commission Investigative Staff (“Staff”) filed a motion to amend the
notice of investigation, which was denied in Order No. 9, issued on June 1, 2006. Specifically, Staff
moved to amend the notice of investigation to make the case caption (which read “Certain NOR and
NAND Flash Memory Devices and Products Containing Same) consistent with the body of the
notice, which failed to include the “products containing same” language. The undersigned ruled that,
while it was understandable that the omission of the standard “products containing same” language
may have been an inadvertent error, good cause did not exist to amend the notice of investigation

at that time, which was more than four months after the notice of investigation had been issued,



because of the potential prejudice to the public interest (including non-parties to the investigation),
and parties to the investigation.

On June 7, 2006, Staff filed a motion for reconsideration of Order No. 9, or in the alternativ